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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
EASTERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK 
–  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  – X 
 
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, 
 
 Plaintiff, 
 
 – against – 
 
APPROXIMATELY FOUR HUNDRED 
FIFTY (450) ANCIENT CUNEIFORM 
TABLETS; and 
 
APPROXIMATELY THREE 
THOUSAND (3,000) ANCIENT CLAY 
BULLAE, 
 
 Defendants in rem. 
 
–  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  – X 

 
 
STIPULATION OF SETTLEMENT 
 
Civil Docket No. _______________ 

 
Hobby Lobby Stores, Inc. (“Hobby Lobby” or the “Company”), an Oklahoma 

corporation acting pursuant to authority granted by the Company’s Board of Directors in the 

form of a board resolution (as certified by its General Counsel in the Certificate attached 

hereto as Attachment A), and the United States Attorney’s Office for the Eastern District of 

New York (the “Office”) (each a “Party” and collectively, the “Parties”) hereby enter into 

this Stipulation of Settlement and Decree of Forfeiture (the “Stipulation”) and agree as 

follows: 
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1. By executing this Stipulation, the Parties stipulate and agree to 

the Statement of Facts, which is attached as Attachment B and incorporated herein by 

reference (the “Statement of Facts”).  

2. The Parties wish to settle and resolve this matter upon the terms 

and conditions set forth herein. 

THE FORFEITURE OF THE DEFENDANTS IN REM 

3. Hobby Lobby acknowledges that the Office is contemporaneously 

filing, in the United States District Court for the Eastern District of New York, a Verified 

Complaint in Rem seeking the forfeiture of the above-named Defendants in rem (the 

“Complaint”), together with a proposed Warrant for Arrest of Articles in rem (the 

“Warrant”). 

4. Hobby Lobby, having reviewed a copy of the Complaint, hereby 

waives service of the Complaint and the Warrant and any and all notice requirements, 

including notice pursuant to Supplemental Rule G of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure 

(“Rule G”). 

5. The Complaint alleges that the Defendants in rem constitute property or 

merchandise that was introduced or attempted to be introduced into the United States 

contrary to law, and are therefore subject to forfeiture pursuant to Title 19, United States 

Code, Section 1595a(c)(1)(A).   

6. This Stipulation shall be deemed a timely filed claim by Hobby Lobby 

to the Defendants in rem. 
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7. Hobby Lobby represents that it possesses an exclusive ownership 

interest in the Defendants in rem.  Hobby Lobby further represents and warrants that, as the 

sole owner of the Defendants in rem, it has all legal right to transfer its exclusive right, title 

and interest the Defendants in rem without the intervention, consent or approval of a third 

party. 

8. Hobby Lobby agrees not to file an answer or other response to the 

Complaint, or to make further claim of right, title or interest to the Defendants in rem in the 

above-captioned proceeding or any judicial or administrative forfeiture proceedings related 

to the Defendants in rem.  

9. Hobby Lobby agrees to assist the United States in effectuating the 

forfeiture of the Defendants in rem by delivery of any Defendants in rem that are within the 

custody and control of Hobby Lobby to a place to be designated by the United States. 

10. Hobby Lobby shall deliver the Defendants in rem using a packing and 

shipping method mutually agreed upon by the Parties, at Hobby Lobby’s sole expense, no 

later than June 30, 2017, unless the Parties agree in writing to a later date. 

THE FORFEITURE OF ADDITIONAL ASSETS 

11. Hobby Lobby acknowledges that certain money and property, namely 

(a) the sum of three million dollars and zero cents ($3,000,000.00), and (b) 144 cylinder seals 

that were imported into the United States without formal entry are subject to civil forfeiture 

to the United States, pursuant to Title 18, United States Code, Section 981(a)(1)(C) as 

proceeds of one or more violations of Title 18, United States Code, Section 542, and/or 

pursuant to Title 19, United States Code, Section 1595a(c)(1)(A) as a substitute res for 
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dissipated property or merchandise that was introduced or attempted to be introduced into the 

United States contrary to law in 2009 through 2011.  Hobby Lobby consents to the seizure 

and forfeiture of (a) the sum of three million dollars and zero cents ($3,000,000.00), and (b) 

144 cylinder seals to the United States of America (the “Forfeited Assets”) pursuant to Title 

18, United States Code, Section 981(a)(1)(C) and Title 28, United States Code, Section 

2461(a) and Title 19, United States Code, Section 1595a(c)(1)(A). 

12. Hobby Lobby hereby waives any and all rights to the Defendants in 

rem and the Forfeited Assets, and agrees not to file a claim or petition the United States or 

any of its agencies for remission or mitigation of the forfeiture of the Defendants in rem or 

the Forfeited Assets.  Hobby Lobby waives its rights, if any, to assert any statutory or 

constitutional defense in this or any other judicial or administrative proceeding related to the 

Defendants in rem or the Forfeited Assets.   

13. Hobby Lobby hereby releases, remises, and forever discharges its 

claims, rights, title and interest in the Defendants in rem and the Forfeited Assets.  Hobby 

Lobby hereby consents to the seizure and forfeiture of the Defendants in rem pursuant to 

Title 19, United States Code, Section 1595a(c)(1)(A), and of the Forfeited Assets pursuant to 

and Title 19, United States Code, Section 1595a(c)(1)(A) and Title 18, United States Code, 

Section 981(a)(1)(C). 

14. Hobby Lobby agrees to defend, indemnify and hold harmless the 

United States, its agents, agencies, and employees, past and present, from any and all claims 

or suits brought by any persons or entities concerning, referring or related to the Defendants 

in rem or the Forfeited Assets, shall promptly provide any information requested by the 
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United States in defense of any such claims, and shall provide any evidence and testimony 

necessary to the defense of such suit. 

15. Hobby Lobby agrees to fully assist the United States in effectuating the 

forfeiture of the Forfeited Assets, including payment of the sum of three million dollars and 

zero cents ($3,000,000.00) (the “Forfeited Funds”), by, among other things, executing any 

documents necessary to effectuate the transfer of title to the Forfeited Assets to the United 

States.  

16. Hobby Lobby shall pay the full amount of the Forfeited Funds by 

certified or official bank check, payable to the “United States Customs and Border 

Protection” and cause said check to be delivered to Assistant United States Attorney Karin 

Orenstein, United States Attorney’s office, Eastern District of New York, 271-A Cadman 

Plaza East, 7th Floor, Brooklyn, New York 11201, by hand, express mail, or overnight 

delivery, within five (5) business days of the execution of this Stipulation.  Hobby Lobby 

agrees that the forfeiture of the Defendants in rem and Forfeited Assets does not constitute a 

fine, penalty or payment of any taxes that may be due and owing. 

17. With respect to the Forfeited Assets, Hobby Lobby waives the filing of 

a civil forfeiture complaint in accordance with the procedures set forth in 18 U.S.C. § 983, 

any notice requirements arising pursuant to Rule G or otherwise, and any defenses to judicial 

or administrative forfeiture of the Forfeited Assets, including, but not limited to, venue, 

statute of limitations, and any defenses based upon the Double Jeopardy Clause of the Fifth 

Amendment or the Excessive Fines Clause of the Eighth Amendment. 
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18. Hobby Lobby acknowledges that the Office, at its sole discretion, may 

seek to forfeit the Forfeited Assets through commencement of an administrative or separate 

civil forfeiture proceeding.  Hobby Lobby consents to the entry of an administrative 

declaration of forfeiture as to the Forfeited Assets, and waives the requirements of Title 18, 

United States Code, Section 983, regarding notice of seizure in non-judicial forfeiture 

matters.   

19. Hobby Lobby agrees not to file or interpose any claim or to assist 

others to file or interpose any claim to the Defendants in rem or the Forfeited Assets in any 

judicial or administrative proceeding related to the Defendants in rem or the Forfeited Assets.  

20. Hobby Lobby agrees to release, remise and forever discharge the 

United States of America, and its agencies, agents, officers, and employees, past and present, 

from all claims or causes of action which the Hobby Lobby and its agents, assigns, 

representatives, and successors ever had, now have, or hereafter may have against the United 

States and/or its agencies, agents, officers, and employees, past and present, for or on 

account of the commencement of this action, the seizure and restraint of the Defendants in 

rem, the settlement of this action, and/or the forfeiture of the Defendants in rem or Forfeited 

Assets. 

21. Hobby Lobby waives its right, if any, to use the instant action or its 

settlement as a basis for any common-law, statutory, or constitutional defense in any other 

civil, criminal, or administrative action unrelated to the Defendants in rem and the property 

for which the Forfeited Assets substitute in which the United States, and/or any of its 

component agencies, is a party, including, without limitation, venue, defenses based upon the 
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Double Jeopardy Clause of the Fifth Amendment and the Excessive Fines Clause of the 

Eighth Amendment to the United States Constitution.   

22. The United States will publish notice of the seizure of the Defendants 

in rem and the Forfeited Assets and of its intent to forfeit the Defendants in rem and 

Forfeited Assets on the government’s official website, www.forfeiture.gov, consistent with 

the custom and practice in this judicial district. 

23. Upon completion of publication and provided that no third-party claims 

are filed with respect to the Defendants in rem and Forfeited Assets, the United States shall 

seek a decree of forfeiture forfeiting the Defendants in rem and Forfeited Assets to the 

United States. 

24. Upon the issuance of a decree of forfeiture forfeiting the Defendants in 

rem and the Forfeited Assets, the Department of Justice, United States Department of 

Homeland Security, and their duly authorized agents and/or contractors shall be authorized to 

dispose of the Defendants in rem and Forfeited Assets in accordance with all laws and 

regulations. 

25. With respect to any and all “Artifacts” that are part of the purchase 

“Order” (as such terms are defined in paragraph 8 of the attached Statement of Facts) and 

which are not included in the Defendants in rem, Hobby Lobby agrees not to file a claim of 

right, title or interest to such Artifacts, consents to their forfeiture in any judicial or 

administrative forfeiture proceeding, and agrees not to petition the United States or any of its 

agencies for remission or mitigation of the forfeiture.  Hobby Lobby agrees that in the event 

that any such Artifacts come into its physical custody or control, whether inside or outside of 

http://www.forfeiture.gov/
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the United States, Hobby Lobby will immediately notify the Office and arrange for such 

Artifacts to be delivered to a place to be designated by the Office at Hobby Lobby’s sole 

expense, using a packing and shipping method mutually agreed upon by the Parties.  Hobby 

Lobby agrees that if it receives notice from a party who claims to be in possession or aware 

of the location of any Artifacts that are part of the Order but have not been forfeited pursuant 

to this Stipulation, Hobby Lobby will immediately notify the Office and provide any and all 

new information and documentation it received regarding the status and location of such 

Artifacts. 

26. Peter Dobelbower, Hobby Lobby’s General Counsel and the 

undersigned outside counsel for Hobby Lobby represent that they are authorized to enter into 

this Settlement Agreement and to execute this and all other documents necessary to 

effectuate the settlement of this action on behalf of Hobby Lobby. 

COMPLIANCE MEASURES 

27. Hobby Lobby represents that it has adopted internal policies and 

procedures for the importation and purchase of Cultural Property1 (“Antiquities Policy”), a 

copy of which has been provided to the United States.  Hobby Lobby (including for purposes 

of this paragraph the principal shareholders and the Affiliated Entities), shall not sell, gift, 

assign or otherwise transfer Cultural Property to another individual or institution unless such 

                                                
1 “Cultural Property” in this Stipulation shall mean Antiquities and Cultural 

Objects.  “Antiquities” are defined as objects of cultural significance created in antiquity and 
discovered on or below the ground or under water as a result of scientific or clandestine 
excavation, exploration or digging activities or inadvertently as a result of other activities.  
Examples include, without limitation, cuneiform tablets, clay bullae and cylinder seals. 
“Cultural Objects” are defined as cultural materials, other than Antiquities, that are at least 
200 years old.  Examples include, without limitation, manuscripts and Torah scrolls. 
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transfer is done in compliance with either: (a) the Association of Art Museum Directors 

Guidelines on the Acquisition of Archaeological Material and Ancient Art (2013), or (b) the 

Association of Art Museum Directors Protocols for Safe Havens for Works of Cultural 

Significance from Countries in Crisis.  “Affiliate” means any entity controlling, controlled by 

or under common control with Hobby Lobby.  “Entity” means any corporation, partnership, 

limited liability company, trust, or other entity. 

28. Hobby Lobby personnel identified in the Antiquities Policy as being 

responsible for purchasing, importing, or receiving Cultural Property on behalf of the 

Company, or supervising or approving any such purchase, importation, or receipt of Cultural 

Property (“Responsible Personnel”), shall be trained no less frequently than annually in the 

basics of customs requirements, provenance requirements, and due diligence in the purchase 

and importation of Cultural Property (“Training”).  Training shall cover Customs laws and 

regulations relating to importation in general and with respect to Cultural Property 

specifically, as well as the criminal, civil, and administrative penalties and other 

consequences associated with improper importation of Cultural Property.  The first Training 

must be completed within six months of this Stipulation, with a second training to be 

completed before the close of the Term of this Stipulation. 

29. Hobby Lobby agrees to engage qualified customs counsel (“Customs 

Counsel”) to (i) provide or supervise the Training; (ii) advise Hobby Lobby with respect to 

any modifications to the Antiquities Policy; (ii) advise Hobby Lobby with respect to all 

proposed and completed acquisitions and importations of Cultural Property, including 

without limitation (a) overseeing importation and provenance due diligence, and 
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(b) preparation and negotiation of appropriate purchase documentation; and (iii) generating 

the Reports required by paragraphs 31 through 33, below. 

30. Hobby Lobby agrees to engage a qualified customs broker to provide 

customs brokerage services for all importations of Cultural Property. 

REPORTING REQUIREMENT 

31. Hobby Lobby shall advise Customs Counsel to deliver to the Office 

quarterly reports within thirty (30) days after the last day of each calendar quarter ending 

during the Term (as defined below) (the “Reporting Deadline”), commencing with the first 

calendar quarter ending after execution of this Stipulation (the “Quarterly Reports”); 

provided, that not less than five Business Days prior to the Reporting Deadline for any 

Quarterly Report, Hobby Lobby may deliver a written request for an extension of time to 

deliver such Quarterly Reports (“Request for Extension”).  Within ten (10) Business Days 

after Hobby Lobby delivers a Request for Extension, the Office shall notify Hobby Lobby in 

writing (“Reply to Request for Extension”) whether it consents to or rejects such Request for 

Extension; provided that the Office shall not unreasonably deny or condition its consent to 

any timely Request for Extension.  If the Office consents to a Request for Extension, the 

Reply to the Request for Extension shall set forth the new, extended Reporting Deadline 

(also the “Reporting Deadline”).  “Business Day” shall mean any day on which banks and 

government offices are generally open for business in New York, New York.   

32. The Quarterly Reports shall include a spreadsheet containing 

information concerning all Cultural Property acquired and/or imported by the Company 

during such quarter, including the following: description; country of origin; HTSUS Code; 
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entered value; invoice price; vendor; shipper; entry type (e.g., formal, informal); entry 

number; mode of transportation (e.g., mail, air cargo, sea cargo, hand-carry, etc.); and, name 

of the customs broker making the Customs entry.  In addition, the Quarterly Reports shall 

note any changes in Hobby Lobby’s Antiquities Policy and the dates and subjects of any 

Training that took place since the submission of the previous Quarterly Report. 

33. During the Term (as defined below), Hobby Lobby shall notify the 

Office promptly after the date Hobby Lobby definitively determines, based on the relevant 

information then actually known to Hobby Lobby (the “Determination Date”), that during 

the period commencing 180 days before the first day of the Term and ending on last day of 

the Term, (a) Hobby Lobby has failed to comply in any material respect with the customs 

laws or regulations governing Hobby Lobby’s importation of any Cultural Property, or 

(b) any third party has provided Hobby Lobby with any materially false information 

concerning the provenance or ownership history of any Cultural Property imported by Hobby 

Lobby (each such notice being a “Paragraph 33 Notice”).  

TERM 

34. Hobby Lobby shall implement and comply with the provisions in 

paragraphs 27 through 33 beginning on the date on which the Complaint is filed and ending 

eighteen (18) months thereafter (the “Term”).   

BREACH OF THIS STIPULATION 

35. Hobby Lobby acknowledges that as of the date of this Stipulation the 

monetary damages arising out of Hobby Lobby’s breach of its obligations under this 

Stipulation cannot be estimated or quantified with any accuracy.  Consequently, Hobby 
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Lobby and the Office agree that Hobby Lobby’s failure to comply with its obligations under 

certain provisions of this Stipulation may lead to the imposition of the following monetary 

penalties (hereafter “Stipulated Penalties”), in accordance with the following provisions: 

A. A Stipulated Penalty of $2,000 per day for each day Hobby 

Lobby (1) fails to implement and maintain compliance measures as set forth in paragraphs 27 

through 33 above; (2) fails to cause the delivery of any Quarterly Report by the Reporting 

Deadline applicable thereto; or (3) fails to timely deliver any Paragraph 33 Notice.  With 

regard to the Training, the Stipulated Penalty will begin to accrue one year after the date of 

the previous Training and continue until the Training has taken place.  With regard to any 

Quarterly Report, the Stipulated Penalty will begin to accrue on the first day after the 

Reporting Deadline applicable thereto, subject to the opportunity to cure set forth below; 

provided, that if the Office rejects a Request for Extension of the applicable Reporting 

Deadline, Stipulated Penalties shall not begin to accrue until three Business Days after the 

delivery date of the Office’s Reply to the applicable Request for Extension.  With respect to 

any Paragraph 33 Notice, the Stipulated Penalty will begin to accrue two weeks after the 

applicable Determination Date. 

B. Upon the Office’s reasonable determination that Hobby Lobby 

has failed to comply with any of the obligations described herein, the Office shall notify 

Hobby Lobby in writing of Hobby Lobby’s failure to comply and the Office’s exercise of its 

contractual right to demand payment of the Stipulated Penalties (the Notice of Breach”).  The 

Notice of Breach shall set forth: (1) the provision(s) breached (the “Specified Breach”); (2) 

the date the Specified Breach became actionable pursuant to this Stipulation (the “Breach 
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Date”); (3) a description of the Specified Breach sufficient to permit Hobby Lobby to cure 

(as described below); and (4) the amount of Stipulated Penalties claimed by the Office as of 

the date of the Notice of Breach.  During the period commencing on the date of delivery of 

the Notice of Breach and ending fourteen (14) days thereafter (as such period may be 

extended in writing by the Office, the “Cure Period”), Hobby Lobby shall use commercially 

reasonable efforts to cure the Specified Breach to the Office’s reasonable satisfaction 

(“Cure”).  Within two (2) Business Days after the last day of the Cure Period, the Office 

shall notify Hobby Lobby in writing whether or not Hobby Lobby has Cured the Specified 

Breach, and if applicable, specifying in reasonable detail why Hobby Lobby has failed to 

effect a Cure.  If Hobby Lobby Cures the Specified Breach within the Cure Period, no 

Stipulated Penalties shall be due with respect thereto.  If Hobby Lobby fails to Cure the 

Specified Breach during the Cure Period, Stipulated Penalties calculated from the Breach 

Date to the date of payment shall be payable to the United States Treasury within three (3) 

Business Days of the end of the Cure Period.  Stipulated Penalties shall continue to accrue 

and become due and payable by electronic fund transfer every two weeks until the Specified 

Breach is Cured.  Such Stipulated Penalties shall be paid by certified or official bank check, 

payable to the “United States Department of Justice” and Hobby Lobby shall cause said 

check to be delivered to Assistant United States Attorney Karin Orenstein, United States 

Attorney’s office, Eastern District of New York, 271-A Cadman Plaza East, 7th Floor, 

Brooklyn, New York 11201, by hand, express mail, or overnight delivery.  Upon receipt, the 

Stipulated Penalties shall be deposited into the U.S. Treasury pursuant to the Miscellaneous 

Receipts Act, Title 31, United States Code, Section 3302, which authorizes deposits of public 
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money into the U.S. Treasury.  Hobby Lobby agrees that the United States District Court for 

the Eastern District of New York shall have jurisdiction over any action to collect any unpaid 

Stipulated Penalties or any action arising out of the Office’s determination that Hobby Lobby 

has failed to Cure any Specified Breach. 

SALE, MERGER, OR OTHER CHANGE IN CORPORATE FORM 

36. Except as may otherwise be agreed by the parties in connection with a 

particular transaction, Hobby Lobby agrees that in the event that a Change of Control occurs 

during the Term, the definitive transaction documents shall provide that the purchaser, 

transferee, surviving entity, or successor in interest to Hobby Lobby shall be bound by this 

Stipulation and Hobby Lobby shall be released therefrom.  “Change of Control” shall mean 

any transaction (whether by sale or transfer of assets or equity, merger, consolidation, 

reorganization, or other business combination) that results in the transfer of ownership or 

voting control (by ownership of a majority of the voting power, agreement or otherwise), 

directly or indirectly, of all or any substantial portion of the business, operations and/or 

assets of the Company related to the importation of Cultural Property as they exist as of the 

date of this Stipulation to any one or more natural person(s) or entity(ies) that is not then an 

Affiliate of Hobby Lobby.  The Company shall notify the Office upon the completion of any 

such Change in Control, in order to give the Office an opportunity to determine if such 

Change in Control would impact the terms or obligations of the Stipulation.  Hobby Lobby 

shall indemnify any such successor in interest for any breaches of this Stipulation. 
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OTHER PROVISIONS 

37. This Stipulation shall be effective on the date that it is signed by all of 

the Parties. 

38. The Company agrees to perform the further acts required by this 

Stipulation, to execute and deliver any and all further documents that may be reasonably 

necessary or desirable to effectuate the purposes of this Stipulation, to refrain or forbear from 

any act that would be inconsistent with the Stipulation, and to otherwise cooperate with the 

United States in executing its obligations under this Stipulation. 

39. The Company acknowledges that it is, and has been, represented by 

competent counsel in connection with the negotiation, preparation, and execution of this 

Stipulation and the legal effects thereof have been duly explained, and that it is entering into 

this Stipulation freely and voluntarily, without coercion, duress or undue influence. 

40. The Parties agree that each Party shall bear its own costs and attorney’s 

fees associated with the importation, seizure, restraint, and forfeiture of the Defendants in 

rem and the Forfeited Assets, and Hobby Lobby further agrees to waive any and all rights it 

may have to recover costs, attorney’s fees and/or interest under the Equal Access to Justice 

Act, the Civil Asset Forfeiture Reform Act, or any other legal, statutory or equitable bases. 

41. This Stipulation, and any other dispute arising thereof, shall be 

governed by the laws of the United States.  The Parties agree that the exclusive jurisdiction 

and venue for any dispute arising between and among the Parties under this Stipulation shall 

be the United States District Court for the Eastern District of New York.  This Court shall 

retain jurisdiction to enforce this Stipulation. 
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42. In the event that any disputes arise about the interpretation of or 

compliance with the terms of this Stipulation, the Parties will endeavor in good faith to 

resolve any such disputes between themselves before seeking intervention from the Court.  

However, in the event of either a failure by one of the Parties to this Stipulation to comply 

with its terms or an act by one of the Parties in violation of any provision hereof, either Party 

may move this Court to impose any remedy authorized by law or equity. 

43. This Agreement is binding on Hobby Lobby and the Office and 

specifically does not bind any other federal, state, or local law enforcement or regulatory 

agency, except that the United States agrees that its agencies, agents, officers, and employees 

will not seek from Hobby Lobby any further fines, penalties or forfeitures in connection with 

any past violations of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 541, 542, 545, 2314 and/or 2315 

or other Customs laws or regulations involving the Defendants in rem or any reimbursement, 

charges or fees associated with the importation, seizure, restraint, and/or forfeiture of the 

Defendants in rem and the Forfeited Assets, including, but not limited to, warehouse storage 

charges.  The Parties agree that the statute of limitation period which was tolled by the 

tolling agreements executed between the Office and Hobby Lobby to date will be deemed to 

be expire after issuance of a warrant for arrest of articles in rem as to the Defendants in rem.   

44. Hobby Lobby and the Office agree that, upon the filing of the 

Complaint, this Stipulation (including its attachments) shall be publicly filed in the United 

States District Court for the Eastern District of New York. 

45. This Stipulation, including its attachments, sets forth all the terms of 

the agreement between Hobby Lobby and the Office.  No amendments, modifications or 
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additions to this Stipulation shall be valid unless they are in writing and signed by the Office, 

the attorneys for the Hobby Lobby, and a duly authorized representative of Hobby Lobby.  

Where the modification constitutes a material change to any term of this Stipulation, it shall 

be effective only upon approval by the Court.  No breach of this Stipulation shall be 

construed as an implied amendment or agreement to amend or modify any of its provisions. 

46. All notices, consents, and other notifications or communications 

required or permitted under this Stipulation shall be in writing and shall be deemed given or 

delivered (a) when delivered personally, or (b) when delivered by email transmission, subject 

to electronic confirmation of delivery by the sender’s email service, provided that a hard 

copy of the emailed notice, consent, or other notification is delivered by FedEx, prepaid, and 

shall be addressed as follows: 

If to Hobby Lobby, to: 
 

Hobby Lobby Stores Inc.  
7707 S.W. 44th Street  
Oklahoma City, Oklahoma 73179  
Attention:  John Graham, Assistant General Counsel  
email: john.graham@hobbylobby.com 

 
in all cases with a copy to: 

 
Kramer Levin Naftalis & Frankel LLP 
1177 Avenue of the Americas 
New York, New York 10036 
Attn: Barry H. Berke, Esq. 
email: bberke@kramerlevin.com 
 
in all cases with a copy to: 

 
 

Pearlstein McCullough & Lederman LLP 
1180 Avenue of the Americas, 8th Floor 
New York, New York 10036 
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Attn: Michael McCullough, Esq. 
email: mmccullough@pmcounsel.com 

 
If to the United States, to: 

 
United States Attorney 

         Eastern District of New York 
  225 Cadman Plaza East 
  Brooklyn, New York 11201 

Attn: Karin Orenstein, Assistant U.S. Attorney 
Email: karin.orenstein@usdoj.gov  

  and   
  Attn: Ameet B. Kabrawala, Assistant U.S. Attorney  
  Email:ameet.kabrawala@usdoj.gov  
 
or to such other address as such Party may indicate by a written notice delivered to the other 

Party. 

47. It is contemplated that this Stipulation may be executed in one or more 

counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, but all of which together will  
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constitute one and the same instrument.  Signature pages may be faxed or scanned and such 

signatures shall be deemed as valid originals.  

 

Dated:  Brooklyn, New York 
  __________________, 2017 
 
 
 

       BRIDGET M. ROHDE 
       Acting United States Attorney 
       Eastern District of New York 
 
 
By:  __________________________________ 
        Karin Orenstein 

Ameet B. Kabrawala 
        Assistant United States Attorneys 
        (718) 254-7000 

 

Dated:  New York, New York   
  __________________, 2017 

Kramer Levin Naftalis & Frankel LLP 
Attorneys for Hobby Lobby 
1177 Avenue of the Americas 
New York, New York 10036 
 
 

By:  __________________________________ 
        Barry H. Berke, Esq. 
        (212) 715-7560 
 
 

Dated: New York, New York  
  __________________, 2017 
 
 
 

Pearlstein, McCullough & Lederman, LLP 
Attorneys for Hobby Lobby 
1180 Avenue of the Americas, 8th Floor 
New York, New York 10036 

 
 
By:  __________________________________ 
        Michael McCullough, Esq. 

(646) 762-7264 
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AGREED AND CONSENTED TO BY:    

 
_______________________________________ 
On Behalf of Hobby Lobby Stores, Inc. 
 

On the        day of ___________ in the year 2017, ________________________ on 
behalf of Hobby Lobby Stores, Inc., known to me, the undersigned, or proved to me on the 
basis of satisfactory evidence to be the individual whose name is subscribed to above, 
personally appeared before me and acknowledged to me and executed the foregoing 
document.   
 
       __________________________________ 
       NOTARY PUBLIC 
 

 

 

SO ORDERED: 

 
________________________________ 
UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE 
EASTERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK 
 
_______________________, 2017 
Date 
 
 
 
Attachments: 

Attachment A: Certification by General Counsel of Hobby Lobby Stores, Inc.  
Attachment B: Statement of Facts 
 


